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The Restoration of Two Panels by

Cima da Conegliano from the Wallace Collection

JILL DUNKERTON

N AUGUST 1859, at the sale of the collection of
Ithe 2nd Baron Northwick, the National Gallery
was prepared to pay up to £60o0 for a panel of Saint
Catherine of Alexandria by Cima da Conegliano (Plate
1). The Gallery was, however, outbid by Samuel
Mawson, acting for the 4th Marquis of Hertford, who
secured the painting for 8oo guineas.! In 1897, on
the death of the widow of Sir Richard Wallace, the
Wallace Collection, incorporating the Hertford pic-
tures, was left to the Nation, the Saint Catherine
eventually being assigned the first number in the
catalogue of paintings.2 Meanwhile the National
Gallery had managed to acquire several works by
Cima, among them the large altarpiece of the
Incredulity of Saint Thomas, which underwent a
long and complicated restoration in the 1970s and
1980s.> Although the Conservation Department of
the National Gallery exists principally to care for
paintings in the Collection, its facilities and accu-
mulated experience — especially in the treatment of
panel paintings — are a resource available, when
necessary, to other national museums such as the
Wallace Collection. Therefore in 1993 it was agreed
that the Saint Catherine, together with its lunette,
The Virgin and Child with Saints Francis and
Anthony of Padua, also in the Wallace Collection,
should be treated at the Gallery.

The Saint Catherine was originally at the centre
of a triptych painted by Cima in about 1502 for the
high altar of the Franciscan church of San Rocco at
Mestre, on the Venetian mainland.* It was almost
certainly commissioned by the Scuola di San Rocco, a
devotional confraternity particularly concerned with
the plague, and on either side of Saint Catherine
were panels showing Saint Sebastian and Saint Roch,
now in the Musée des Beaux-Arts, Strasbourg (Plate
9). Above was the arch-topped panel of The Virgin
and Child with Saints Francis and Anthony of
Padua. The altarpiece seems to have remained in place
until at least 1726 when the Scuola di San Rocco
obtained permission to build a new stone altar on
condition that the old altarpiece be hung on a back
wall behind the altar. By 1769 it had been moved to
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a side wall but plans were discussed for restoring it
to its original position. Soon after, however, it was
sold to John Strange, British Resident at Venice. It
seems to have been replaced in the church by a copy,
now in the Sacristy of the Duomo of San Lorenzo at
Mestre (Fig. 1), and it was probably also at about
this time that an engraving of the four panels (Fig. 2)
was made by Antonio Baratti (who died in 1787).
They are shown in an elaborate rococo frame, surely
the engraver’s invention and no reflection as to how
they might have been framed at the time. It can be
assumed that the original frame, if it survived the
various movements of the altarpiece, was left in the
church. The church was suppressed in 1806 and the
copy, which no longer has a frame, was probably
transferred to the Duomo at this date.

In 1799 the entire altarpiece was included in the
London sale of the Strange collection, and it was
sold again in 1832. By 1846 it had been dismem-
bered and the Saint Catherine alone was to be seen
in Lord Northwick’s collection at Thirlestone House,
Cheltenham, where in 1854 it was admired by
Gustav Waagen as ‘noble and dignified in head and
figure, and painted in the artist’s best style of colour-
ing and drapery’.¢ In 1857 it was included in the
Manchester Art Treasures exhibition — Waagen was
one of the organisers —and was among the paintings
to be photographed.” The photographic print was
evidently much retouched but it shows that already
there were differences between the state of the paint-
ing by 1857 and the image that appears in Baratti’s
engraving. Most of the upper part of the picture had
been lost, leaving only a few centimetres of the
architrave of the ceiling of the loggia or canopy that
covered the saint; the landscape at the lower left had
been simplified, with no sign of the rocky outcrop
and the buildings to be seen in the print.

By 1902, when another photograph of the Saint
Catherine was published,? the upper edge had been
trimmed further, leaving little more than a centi-
metre of paint from the architrave, the condition in
which the painting survives today. It was, by then,
displayed in a heavy and ornate gilt frame, typical of
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Plate 1 Giovanni Battista Cima da Conegliano, Saint
Catherine of Alexandria and The Virgin and Child with
Saints Francis and Anthony of Padua, c.1502. Main
panel, 153 x 77 cm; lunette, 40 cm x 81.3 cm. London,
Wallace Collection. Before cleaning.

Fig. 1 Saint Catherine, 18th-century copy. Panel,
173 x 77 cm. Mestre, Duomo di San Lorenzo.
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Fig. 2 Antonio Baratti, The Mestre Altarpiece, before 1787. Engraving.
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those fitted by Sir Richard Wallace. In 1933 the
lunette of The Virgin and Child with Saints was pre-
sented to the Wallace Collection,?® reuniting it with
the Saint Catherine after a century of separation.
This necessitated the making of a new frame in a fif-
teenth-century Venetian style (Fig. 4).10

Much of the nineteenth-century restoration his-
tory of the Saint Catherine, including the cutting of
the top and the repainting of the landscape on the left,
can be reconstructed, and, after the establishment of
the Wallace Collection, a record of its deteriorating
condition was kept.!! Probably in about 1896 the
panel was planed down and cradled by William
Morrill, whose stamp is on the cradle and who also
frequently fitted cradles to paintings in the National
Gallery. In 1924 the condition of the painting was
causing concern. Vertical cracks in the panel, blis-
ters, large areas of repaint and a ‘heavy oil varnish . ..
degenerated into a dirty yellow tone’ were all noted by
the curator. In 193 3, when it was about to be reframed,
blisters were secured by Morrill, and some cleaning
was carried out by William Holder, another restorer
who worked regularly for the National Gallery. He
seems to have removed some of the varnish and
repaired any new losses, but he simply ‘blended in’
many of the old damages and repainting, including
the landscape on the left. In 1946 blisters and dis-
coloured restoration were observed. In 1962 an
estimate was supplied by D.R. Vallance on behalf of
W. Holder and Sons, ‘to secure extensive blistering
pigment, secure cracks in panel, slight clean, repair
and varnish’. It is unclear whether this treatment
was carried out, but, in any case, the same problems
were again reported in 1976, when the general con-
dition was described as ‘poor’ and the observation
made that treatment to the paint and ground layers
was of little value without treatment of the panel
and, in particular, the removal of the cradle.

The panel, constructed from three vertical planks
of poplar, had been planed to a thickness of no more
than about 3 mm and a heavy mahogany cradle fitted.
Many of the splits and cracks in the wood are likely
to be old but others were clearly caused by the con-
striction of the cradle. Woodworm damage was con-
siderable, especially in the left-hand plank. Restored
and overpainted losses of paint and ground from
this plank were extensive, the shape and distribu-
tion of the losses — revealed initially by X-radiogra-
phy — confirming that huge blisters had formed and
flaked off in the past. On the right side there were
fewer losses, but many more blisters that needed to
be secured. Panel paintings by Cima seem unusually
prone to failure of adhesion between the support

Plate 2 Saint Catherine, after cleaning, before restoration.

and the preparation, presumably because of defects
in the composition or in the application of the layers
of gesso and size.’2 Although the Virgin and Child
with Saints had a different history in the later part of
the nineteenth century, it too had been planed and
cradled. It has not suffered from the same flaking as
the main panel, but the original wood was under
some tension and horizontal splits in the panel had
been clumsily repaired.

As is the usual practice, both paintings were
cleaned before structural treatment. The condition
of the Saint Catherine varied considerably in different
areas and colours (Plate 2). In general, the red and
green draperies were found to be well preserved,
retaining much of their original richness and inten-
sity of colour. Flake losses were mostly relatively
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Plate 3 Saint Catherine, detail of the sky during cleaning.

small and widely scattered. Areas of flesh painting
had suffered from abrasion, losing some of the fine
detail and most of the translucent brown glazing in
the shadows which is seen in better preserved paint-
ings by Cima. A long chain of losses from blistering
runs through the face of the saint, from the corner of
her right eye, down the shadowed side of her nose
and through to her chin;and most of the back of her
right hand has been lost. Other large losses are in
the pedestal and along the lower edge of the panel,
but by far the worst affected areas are the sky and
landscape on the left.

The varnish, which was fairly thin and only
moderately discoloured, must have been applied in
the restoration made by Holder in 1933 and could
be removed without difficulty (Plate 3). The varnish
also incorporated some retouchings, mainly over
small losses or along ridges of raised paint. These had
discoloured to a greenish colour and showed dark
in infra-red and so they were probably executed using
Prussian blue. The much older and harder repaint-
ing that had been scumbled over the entire sky was
opaque and heavy in tone and of a slight purple hue.
It was found to contain artificial ultramarine.”® In
ultra-violet light (Plate 4) it showed as dark, once
the fluorescent varnish had been removed, whereas
the original paint is light and reflective. The effect of
this overpainting was to destroy the illusion of air
and space behind the saint, an essential element of
Cima’s great altarpieces showing figures in a land-
scape setting, and still evident in the Saint Catherine
despite its very damaged condition.

The same retouching paint, only much more
thickly applied, covered the large losses in the sky.
These had first been made level with a lead-white
and oil mixture that also filled many of the losses in
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Plate 4 Saint Catherine, detail of the same area under
ultra-violet illumination during cleaning.

during cleaning.

the overpainted landscape (Plate s5). Since the land-
scape had been repainted by 1857 it can be deduced
that the panel must have flaked badly at some time
before that date, but after the introduction of artifi-
cial ultramarine (first manufactured in 1828) and
probably after the separation of the altarpiece, since
there were no fillings of this type on the lunette
panel. Instead, losses from this panel were filled with
gesso or with coloured putties applied over areas of
wood that had been scored with crosshatched lines
to improve the adhesion. Some losses on the Saint
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Catherine had also been treated in this way, and so
these repairs would appear to date from an earlier
campaign when the panels were still together, per-
haps in the later part of the eighteenth century. The
cleaning of the Virgin and Child with Saints was rel-
atively straightforward (Plate 6). Since it had not
been cleaned in 1933, the varnish was considerably
more discoloured and contained a great deal of
resinous retouching to disguise the damage and
abrasion to the paint, in some areas so worn that lit-
tle more than the underdrawing survives. The high
finish to the restoration made the modelling of the
figures, especially the two saints, appear hard and
wooden, leading to suggestions of workshop partic-
ipation.’ However, removal of the retouching has
revealed painting of great delicacy and sensitivity.
Cima was surely responsible for the execution of the
entire altarpiece.

Once the areas of blistering paint (Fig. 3) were
free of the thick overpaint, they could be secured by
introducing sturgeon glue and applying gentle pres-
sure with an electrically heated spatula. This treat-
ment was even more successful following removal
of the cradle, since the panel was then able to adopt
a convex warp, and was no longer causing compres-
sion of the paint and ground layers. Although the
panel proved to be surprisingly robust once the
splits and cracks had been joined, the extreme thin-
ness of the remaining wood (no more than 3 mm)
meant that the construction of an auxiliary support
of balsa wood was necessary.’® The lunette panel
had also been planed down to a thickness of 3—4mm
and so it too was reinforced in this way.

The restoration of the Saint Catherine (Plate 2)
involved three main issues: the large losses caused by
blistering and flaking; the severe abrasion to the paint
ofthesky, and, toalesser extent, to areas of flesh paint-
ing and architectural detail; and, thirdly, the damage
to the spatial construction caused by the cutting of the
upper part of the panel. In general, the large losses
did not present any particular difficulties as to how
missing areas should be reconstructed. Little paint
remains of the landscape on the left, but the surviv-
ing fragments indicate that the Baratti engraving is a
reasonably faithful reproduction. By referring to
this, and to landscapes in other paintings by Cima,
it was possible to fill in the losses and to reintegrate
the landscape to the extent that it now recedes
behind the figure and architecture. It has deliberate-
ly been left a little blurred and indistinct in contrast
to the well-preserved landscape on the other side.

The abraded condition of the paint of the sky was
more problematic. The entire altarpiece, including

W
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Fig. 3 Saint Catherine, detail of blisters photographed in
raking light.

the side panels now in Strasbourg,'s was evidently
badly over-cleaned at some point, probably when it
was still together in the original frame (discussed
below). On the Saint Catherine, the modelling of the
clouds is almost completely lost, leaving only cloud-
shaped areas of the azurite blue that was employed
as an overall underpainting for the sky.

Much of the final layer of ultramarine in the blue
areas is missing;!7 it has survived undamaged only
where it was protected by the mouldings of the frame.
In retouching the sky thin glazes of ultramarine were
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Plate 7 The Virgin and Child with Saints Francis and Anthony of Padua, after cleaning, before restoration.

applied more with the aim of reducing the unevenness
rather than attempting to restore the colour to its
presumed original density. It was considered impor-
tant to retain the sense of space behind the figure
gained by the removal of the heavy overpainting. In
the case of the clouds, little more could be done
other than to apply sufficient retouching to link the
surviving patches of modelling and to indicate that
they had once been clouds.

The large loss and the abrasions on the saint’s
face have been restored fully and the disturbing visi-
bility of a pentimento in her eyes has been reduced.
Most of the glazes on her draperies were in remark-
ably good condition, and retouching was necessary
only to some abrasion of the thinnest glazes over the
highlights of the green dress. In these lighter areas
the green glazes have discoloured slightly, but in the

.shadows they have retained their original deep
green colour. Areas of green drapery on paintings by
Cima are often well preserved, and here, as else-
where, they have been built up carefully with glazes
of verdigris in oil over substantial underpaintings
based on verdigris, lead-tin yellow and lead white.

The layer structure of the saint’s red mantle (and
the dress of the Virgin in the lunette) is also typically
complex. The whole area was first blocked in with a
bright opaque red, consisting principally of vermil-
ion (with some red lake). Although covered by the
upper paint layers, it is unlikely to represent a change
of colour from a warm to a cool red. More probably
it was intended to contribute to the final effect. Over
this underpainting the highlights were modelled with
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red lake and white and the shadows built up to a
sumptuous intensity with multiple layers of red lake,
the dyestuff identified as derived from kermes.!8
Kermes was the most expensive of the dyestuffs,
and the ultramarine used for the picture is also likely
to have been costly.

Unfortunately when ultramarine is used, as here,
in an oil medium (identified as linseed oil)!® and
mixed with little or no lead white, it can degrade
badly, resulting in a blanched and chalky appear-
ance.? On the Saint Catherine the effect is most evi-
dent on the roundels decorating the border of the
red cloak. In the shadowed folds the roundels were
glazed with pure ultramarine, but the colour has
become so blanched that they are now lighter in
tone than the roundels painted over the highlights.
To correct this reversal of the artist’s intentions the
roundels in the shadows have been slightly toned,
but little could be done to the blanched ultramarine
of the Virgin’s mantle in the lunette (Plate 7). Except
for a narrow strip along the lower edge, protected
by the frame, the tonal variations in the modelling of
the drapery folds are no longer apparent. In places the
greenish blue colour of the azurite used to under-
paint the ultramarine is now exposed. Since it gives
some structure to the drapery folds it has not been
suppressed by retouching. Scratch marks in the
exposed gesso of the very damaged lining of the
Virgin’s mantle indicate that the paint was scraped
off deliberately before repainting. The examination
of a sample from one of the surviving fragments of
orange paintidentified the presence of realgar, a pig-
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Fig. 4 Saint Catherine of Alexandria and The Virgin and
Child with Saints Francis and Anthony of Padua, in the
frame made in 193 3 (photographed during restoration
of the paintings).

ment vulnerable to deterioration and damage, mixed
probably with some earth pigment and perhaps a
translucent brown.?! On this evidence, the area of
lining was re-glazed with an orange-brown colour,
but no real attempt was made to suggest folds.

The final stage of the restoration was to consider
the detrimental consequences of the cutting of the
ceiling of the canopy or loggia above Saint Catherine.
If the panels are positioned as they were in the frame
made for them in 193 3, the lunette is uncomfortably
close to the top of the saint’s head (Fig. 4). Further-
more, when looking at the upper part of the picture,

Plate 8 Saint Catherine, detail of the upper right corner
photographed in raking light, after cleaning, before
restoration.

because of the absence of the receding orthogonals
of the ceiling, the viewer tends to read the large pro-
jecting cornices of the painted architecture as being
in front of the figure. Only when the eye travels
down to the lower part of the image and locates the
bases of the pilasters does it become apparent that
they are supposed to be behind her. This makes the
relationship between figure and architecture dis-
concertingly unstable.

Drawn lines and incisions into the gesso ground
(Plate 8) indicate that originally the altarpiece had
an architectural frame with pilasters, capitals and
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Plate 9 Saint Catherine of Alexandria and The Virgin and Child
with Saints Francis and Anthony of Padua in the adapted frame.
On the left (as a photomontage), Saint Sebastian, on the right, Saint
Roch. Left panel 116.3 x 47.6 cm, right panel 116 x 47.2 cm, both
Strasbourg, Musée des Beaux-Arts.

66 | NATIONAL GALLERY TECHNICAL BULLETIN VOLUME 21



The Restoration of Two Panels by Cima da Conegliano from the Wallace Collection

cornices of the same design and proportions as those
of Cima’s painted architecture. In fact the pilasters
and entablature of the frame supply the front of the
canopy that covers the saint. The ledge on which the
Strasbourg saints stand is a continuation of the floor
of Saint Catherine’s loggia, but they are placed in the
open air. These panels have not been cut down, as has
sometimes been suggested,?? and their upper edges
must have been level with the mouldings immediately
above the capitals of the lost frame (as indicated by
the incisions into the panel). These mouldings would
then have continued across to form the base of an
entablature over the side compartments. The entab-
lature was surmounted perhaps by carved volutes,
vases or other such elements as can be seen on wood-
en and stone frames of the period.

Similarly, the lunette is likely to have been sepa-
rated from the main panel by an entablature of the
same width as the painted one — known from the eigh-
teenth-century copy and the print. As is often the
case with contemporary Venetian frames — and also
buildings — the mouldings of the arch were not as
wide as the pilasters and so the panel of the lunette is
slightly wider than that of the Saint Catherine. A
crescent-shaped area around the curved upper edge
of the lunette was found to have been made up, the
black paint overlying a greenish-blue coloured filling
(Plate 6) applied to bare wood that had been scored
in the same way as some of the flake losses on this and
the main panel. Ttis possible that this area may once
have contained a fictive stone arch, painted with the
intention of pushing the figure group back into their
space. A suggestion of such an arch appears on the
copy at Mestre and a similar device was employed
by Cima for the lunette of an altarpiece now in the
Museo Civico at Feltre. However, no trace of paint
from any arch has survived on the Wallace
Collection picture and it was decided that the area
should again be painted black.

Since both the frame and the lost ceiling had such
an important function in defining the painted space,
the possibility was considered of attempting a recon-
struction of the missing area. Baratti’s engraving had
proved in other details to be reliable, and by placing
a tracing taken from the Wallace panel over that in
Mestre, it could be shown that the copy, although
crude and clumsily painted, had been made from a
careful tracing of the original painting.?> More accu-
rate measurements of the height of the entablature
and ceiling could therefore be obtained than would
have been possible by calculation from the print
alone. Moreover, it was discovered that the frame
made in 1933 could be adapted without great diffi-

Fig. 5 Detail of the frame during alteration.

culty to accommodate the reconstruction and also
to position the capitals and projecting cornices of
the sides at exactly the same levels as those of the
original frame (as indicated by the incisions into the
gesso).

The proposal to replace the lost ceiling was made
first to the Board of Trustees of the Wallace Collection
and then to its Picture Conservation Panel, an inter-
national advisory panel comprising art historians,
museum curators and conservators. Towards the end
of the treatment, and before any alterations were
made to the frame, the restored panels were returned
temporarily to Hertford House, so that they could be
tried in the position where they are to be displayed.
The proposed alterations to the frame had been
worked out by cutting and pasting actual size pho-
tographic prints and these were assembled around
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the panels, allowing the Conservation Panel to judge
and approve the likely outcome.

To adapt the frame a section needed to be cut out
of each of the over-tall pilasters, but this could be
relocated above the first projecting cornice (Fig. 5).
The sides could then be completed with new pieces,
copying the carved flower-filled urns from those at
the tops of the pilasters and repeating the mouldings
and dentils of the cornice.2 The reconstruction of the
ceiling is painted on a separate piece of gessoed wood,
notattached physically to the original panel. The slight
gap, and the fact that the new gesso has been left
smooth, without any attempt to imitate craquelure,
should make its modern origin evident.2s

The restitution of the orthogonals means that there
is no longer any confusion as to the saint’s relation-
ship with the architecture, and the alterations to the
frame complete the illusion of a figure set in a defined
space (Plate 9). As a result, the figure — in fact painted
on a relatively small scale — gains in dignity and mon-
umentality. The clarity of Cima’s design enables it to
command a vista in the same way that it must have
done when it was still on the high altar of the church
of San Rocco. It shares this distinction with the
National Gallery’s Incredulity of Saint Thomas.
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wax-resin used in the next stage of the process. The
back of the panel was then built up with two layers of
balsa-wood planks, embedded in wax-resin bulked up
with sawdust. The planks of the first layer of balsa
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see A. Reeve, ‘Structural Conservation of Panel Paintings
at the National Gallery, London’, The Structural Conserv-
ation of Panel Paintings, Proceedings of a Symposium at
the . Paul Getty Museum 2428 April 1995, Los Angeles
1998, pp. 410-17. Following treatment, the panel has
maintained its slight convex warp. Its condition would
appear to be stable and should remain so, providing
thatit continues to be kept in a suitable environment.
The poor condition of the panels in Strasbourg has
been thought to be a result of their having been in a fire
at the museum in 1947. However, examination of the
panels — made available by M. Jean-Louis Faure,
Conservateur en Chef of the Musée des Beaux-Arts —
confirms that they are in similar condition to the
London panels. The lighter colours are equally abrad-
ed, also in places rubbed down to the underdrawing
and gesso, and they would appear to have suffered
from the same drastic cleaning, very probably with an
abrasive substance.

This technique for painting skies features in many
paintings by Cima. The thinness and translucency of
the final layers of ultramarine give them a remarkable
luminosity but also make them vulnerable to cleaning
damage. Consequently the skies in many of his works
now appear worn and patchy.

The dyestuff was identified by Jo Kirby using HPLC.
Paint samples for pigment identification and for study
as cross-sections were examined by Ashok Roy.
Samples for medium identification were analysed using
GC-MS by Raymond White. A sample from a white or
almost white area was found to contain linseed oil with
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no evidence for pre-polymerisation and brushmarks
are clearly evident in the more bodied lighter colours,
for example the architecture. The red lake and verdigris
green glazes, however, contain partially heat-bodied
linseed oil and have consequently dried with a smoother,
more glassy finish. Although some pine resin was
detected in the red lake sample, none was found in the
green and so the glaze is not a so-called ‘copper resinate’.
The precise causes of the blanching of natural ultrama-
rine when used in an oil medium have not yet been
established but it is known to be very vulnerable to
acidic environments or possibly cleaning agents such as
vinegar (acetic acid).

Realgar, highlighted with orpiment and glazed with a
translucent brown pigment based on a softwood tar,
occurs on the orange robe of Saint Peter in the National
Gallery’s Incredulity of Saint Thomas (see Dunkerton
and Roy, cited in note 3, p. 17).

See Humfrey, cited in note 4, p. 115.

We are very grateful to Dr Annalisa Perissa Torini of
the Soprintendenza per i beni artistici e storici di Venezia
for arranging for Joanne Hedley and myself to have
access to the copy of the polyptych.

The alterations to the frame were carried out by Clare
Keller of the National Gallery Framing Department.
The reconstruction of missing sections of paintings on
separate and clearly detached pieces of wood is a solution
that has been used on several paintings in the National
Gallery, most notably Pesellino’s fragmented altar-
piece of The Trinity with Saints reassembled in 1930,
but missing the lower right section, or more recently
The Coronation of the Virgin by Lorenzo Monaco dis-
cussed on pp. 43-57 of this Bulletin. The panel for the
ceiling, which had to be shaped to follow the slight
warp of the original panel, was made and prepared with
gesso by Isabella Kocum of the Framing Department.
The painting of the reconstruction and the restoration
of Cima’s panels were executed principally with pig-
ments ground in ‘Paraloid B-72’. Some final glazes, and
especially the patination of the reconstruction, were
applied using ‘Gamblin’ aldehyde resin colours. For
the deepest red lake glazes on the cloak, the pigments
were ground in ‘Laropal K-80’. The preliminary and
final varnishes were of ‘Laropal K-80’.
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